11/19/91



DEC

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,013 DCA-3 90-02157

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

4

1991

EDWARD C. TIETIG

Petitioner,

- V S -

COLLEEN H. TIETIG, k/n/a Colleen H. Boggs

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

EDWARD C. TIETIG 1326 Malabar Rd. S.E. Suite 1 Palm Bay, FI 32907 407-723-3163 Fla Bar No. 081392

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

<u>Introduction</u>

This is a Petition to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court under Rule 9.030 (a) (2) (iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. It seeks to review an Opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal filed April 30, 1991. That Opinion denied Petitioner, Husband's Appeal of Amended Order on Report of General Master; entered in the Dade County Circuit Court, Judge Philip Bloom, which denied Husband's Petition for Modification of Child Support. It also seeks review of the award of attorney's fees to Wife.

The Petitioner, Edward C. Tietig will be referred to here in "TIETIG" or "HUSBAND". The Respondent is Colleen H. Tietig (Boggs) and will be referred to herein as "BOGGS" or "WIFE".

The following symbols will be utilized:

"R"	 	Record-on-Appeal;
"RS"	 	Supplemented Record-on-Appeal
"T"	 	Transcript of trial proceedings.

All emphasis is supplied by counsel unless otherwise indicated.

Case and Facts

Husband and Wife were married in 1965. They separated in February, 1982 and were divorced in March, 1982. They executed a written Property Settlement Agreement on January 28, 1982 (R 6). The Agreement provided (Paragraph 4) for payment by Husband to Wife of \$200.00 per week child support for each of the 3 children of the marriage, each of whom was then in private school; such payments to continue until each child reached age 18. Wife was also granted the right to claim all 3 children as dependents on her IRS returns. Alimony was waived as were attorney's fees for other than enforcement actions (Paragraph 4). The Agreement was made a part of the Final Decree, entered March 17, 1982 (R 4).

Payments of these stipulated amounts were faithfully made by Husband from February, 1982 until August 22, 1988 (T 33); a total amount of over \$205,000.00 for the six and one-half year period.

In late August, 1988, Husband had a \$2,345,000 judgment entered against him (T 38). At the same time, 2 blanket mortgages covering most of his land-development and agricultural assets were declared in default (T 38-39). Eventually, claims against Husband would total over \$13,500,000.00.

Husband and one of his related entities filed Chapter 11 bankruptcy in September, 1988. Husband disclosed these problems to Wife and, failing an agreed reduction (T 37), unilaterally reduced the payments after August 22, 1988, to \$75.00 per week per child for a total of \$225.00 per week. These payments were made through the trial date.

This legal action commenced on September 20, 1988, by Husband filing his Motion To Modify these child support obligations with the Dade County Circuit Court under the original divorce action (R 204-216).

Over 1 year later, October 17, 1989, Wife filed in the Circuit Court her Motion to Enforce Final Judgment (R 221-224). On October 25, 1989, Wife petitioned the Bankruptcy Court for a lift of stay. Husband stipulated to its lifting and an Order was entered October 10, 1989 (RS 1-2) providing for an immediate termination of stay. However it was replaced on October 25, 1989, with an Amended Order which granted the lifting of the stay only for the "limited purpose" of determining the amount of the child support and medical expense claims and prohibiting all enforcement without further order of the Bankruptcy Court (RS 3-4).

After the Amended Order was issued by the Bankruptcy Court, Wife then filed a Motion in the Circuit Court for attorney's fees (R 225-226). However, no request for fees was made to the Bankruptcy Court nor was there a request to the Bankruptcy Court to supplement its Order lifting stay to include this request. Husband moved to strike this Motion (RS 5-6) as not asked of, nor granted by, the Bankruptcy Court and as being outside the limited scope granted by the Amended Order lifting stay (T 22-28).

Trial of these issues was referred to the General Masters' Office. At trial, in response to query by Husband, the General Master, Carol Gersten, responded (T 199),

"It is the rule of law that I follow, Sir. There is a much heavier burden in trying to modify an agreement that was mutually entered into by the parties than there is to modify a Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage resolved by trial. I believe that is black-letter law. There is a substantial burden."

Despite this unfair handicap, despite friction between the General Master and Husband (which appears throughout the transcript) and without an attorney because of lack of funds, Husband was able to supply solid evidence prepared under penalty of Federal Felony law. Because of the Bankruptcy proceedings, Husband had been required to file a sworn affidavit each month from September, 1988, listing all income and all expenses. These were entered into evidence (T 61) and were uncontroverted. They showed Husband had an average monthly income from September, 1988, through February 23, 1990, the hearing date, of only \$1,768.00 GROSS. He was voluntarily making payments of \$967.50 per month, or 55% of all his income, not just available income.

Husband offered uncontroverted proof that at the time the Agreement was signed, he had very substantial income from a law practice, a real estate sales practice, a tree nursery and the sale and operation of two large apartment complexes. His debt, in good standing, was approximately \$4,500,000.

Compared to that date, the claims remaining in the bankruptcy at the date of trial still exceeded \$11,000,000.00; all sales were controlled by the Court, the Court had denied his request for extra income from sales commission, and there was no ability to get extra

income or to free an asset for sale free of prior claims upon the proceeds.

Wife's attorney was allowed to present evidence of value of real estate assets of Husband, which were admittedly substantial; however, it was shown that these assets and the cash flow therefrom were all subject to mortgage liens of creditors and were not available to Husband. Only the \$1,768.00 per month came to him T 98).

Husband also alleged that the original support figure was based upon an understanding that the children would remain in private school through the 12th grade. Inasmuch as the children had been sent to public schools by Wife after the 6th grade, the expenses and the basis for the higher amount had been eliminated.

Wife disclosed a monthly income in excess of \$5,300.00 from her ownership of 2 businesses, a bank directorship, a Farm Bureau presidency, 3 first mortgages receivable and a Florida State board position. This figure included child support at the reduced level. If it had been at the figure she demanded, income would have been almost \$7,000 per month. (In fact, this is just what the lower Court has ordered.) Her expenses included \$594.26 per month for family tennis lessons and \$526.00 per month for family vacations (R 234-236).

Despite this very, very substantial budget of "necessities" she agreed at trial that the 3 boys were healthy, happy, doing well in school and athletics and <u>had no adverse affect from the reduced</u> <u>payments over the prior 19 months</u> (T 135).

The General Master held that Husband had not overcome the heavier burden of proof, was not entitled to relief, and that Wife was entitled to the original support figure plus attorney's fees.

Exceptions to the General Master's findings were filed by Husband (R 241-242) but were rejected by the Circuit Court which issued its Order R 259) and its Amended Order (R 264-266).

An appeal was taken to the Third District Court of Appeals which was denied by Opinion entered April 30, 1991. Subsequently, the Circuit Court awarded \$10,000 attorney's fees to wife for the trial and the appeal.

Appellate Jurisdiction based upon conflicting opinions of the District Courts of Appeal (Rule 9.030 (2) (iv) F.R.A.P.) was filed on July 5, 1991. This Court granted Appellate Jurisdiction on October 18, 1991.

Still pending, and not a part of this proceeding, is Husband's subsequent second petition for modification, filed at age 62, showing his continued inability to pay; the award of his social security pension benefits of \$613.00 per month and those social security benefits accruing directly to Wife as Guardian of the minor children of over \$820.00 per month and requesting appropriate modifications and credits.

POINTS INVOLVED ON APPEAL

<u>Point I</u>

THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE COURTS ERRED IN APPLYING THE RULE OF LAW THAT THERE IS A MUCH HEAVIER BURDEN UPON A PETITIONER TO MODIFY A WRITTEN AGREEMENT FOR CHILD SUPPORT ENTERED INTO BY THE PARTIES OVER THAT OF AN ORDER ENTERED BY THE TRIAL COURT IN A DISSOLUTION PROCEEDING.

Point II

EVEN USING THE HEAVIER BURDEN RULE THE FINDINGS OF THE GENERAL MASTER AND ADOPTED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT ARE CONTRARY TO THE MANIFEST WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Point III

THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN BASING THEIR DECISION UPON TOTAL ASSETS SHOWN, WHILE DISREGARDING SECURED DEBT THEREON, PRIOR ASSIGNMENT OF PROCEEDS AND INABILITY TO LIQUIDATE AND USE, RATHER THAN THE PROPER CRITERIA OF AVAILABLE CASH INCOME.

Point IV

AN ORDER REQUIRING HUSBAND TO PAY THE AWARD OF CHILD SUPPORT WHICH EXCEEDS HIS TOTAL MONTHLY GROSS INCOME WHILE AT THE SAME TIME DISREGARDING WIFE'S SUBSTANTIAL INCOME VIOLATES THE PRINCIPLES OF SECTION 61.30 FLORIDA STATUTES AND CONSTITUTES JUDICIAL ABUSE AND REVERSIBLE ERROR.

<u>Point V</u>

BY AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE CIRCUIT COURT EXCEEDED THE PERMITTED AREA OF ACTIVITY PURSUANT TO THE RESTRICTIONS CONTAINED IN THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S LIMITED ORDER LIFTING STAY.

Point VI

THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED ATTORNEY'S FEES FOR DEFENSE OF THE MODIFICATION ACTION WHEN SUCH AWARD WAS PROHIBITED BY SPECIFIC PROVISION IN THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

Point VII

THE ATTORNEY'S FEES AWARDED WERE EXCESSIVE AS TO WORK PERFORMED SOLELY AS TO THE ENFORCEMENT OF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

Point VIII

THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES TO WIFE WAS IMPROPER IN LIGHT OF THE WIFE'S ABILITY TO PAY AND HUSBAND'S INABILITY TO PAY.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point_I

THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE COURTS ERRED IN APPLYING THE RULE OF LAW THAT THERE IS A MUCH HEAVIER BURDEN UPON A PETITIONER TO MODIFY A WRITTEN AGREEMENT FOR CHILD SUPPORT ENTERED INTO BY THE PARTIES OVER THAT OF AN ORDER ENTERED BY THE TRIAL COURT IN A DISSOLUTION PROCEEDING.

The General Master held, (T 199),

"It is the rule of the law that I follow, Sir. There is a much heavier burden in trying to modify an agreement that was mutually entered into by the parties than there is to modify a Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage resolved by trial. I believe that is black-letter law. There is a substantial burden".

That "black-letter" law had been specifically overruled in <u>Bernstein v Bernstein</u>, 498 So 2d 1270 (Fla App 4 Dist 1986). That Court held that in child support modification cases such as this, there is no different burden that the same preponderance of evidence rule existing in civil law cases. The reasoning in that case should be adopted by this Court.

Point II

EVEN USING THE HEAVIER BURDEN RULE THE FINDINGS OF THE GENERAL MASTER AND ADOPTED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT ARE CONTRARY TO THE MANIFEST WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

The evidence and testimony introduced at trial showed an involuntary, substantial, material and permanent reversal of circumstances by Petitioner/Husband. He was in bankruptcy and all of his assets were frozen by judgment and mortgage liens. His income was supervised and controlled by the Bankruptcy Court and the U.S. Trustee. To the contrary, Wife had an income of over \$5,300 per month not counting the requested child support. There had been no adverse affect upon the children during the 19 months of reduced payments. The award of child support of about 150% of Petitioner's verified \$1,768.00 monthly income, thereby giving Wife an income of \$7,000.00 monthly, was clearly an economic impossibility and constituted gross abuse of discretion.

<u>Point III</u>

THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN BASING THEIR DECISION UPON TOTAL ASSETS SHOWN, WHILE DISREGARDING SECURED DEBT THEREON, PRIOR ASSIGNMENT OF PROCEEDINGS AND INABILITY TO LIQUIDATE AND USE, RATHER THAN THE PROPER CRITERIA OF AVAILABLE CASH INCOME.

The ability to pay child support is not determined by gross assets if the evidence shows that the use of said assets or the income therefrom has been previously pledged to another party. The ability to pay must be determined by available net income and those assets which are free to convert into cash. This is spelled out clearly in <u>Chapter 61 Florida Statutes</u>. The amount awarded is far greater than that allowed by the guidelines.

Point IV

AN ORDER REQUIRING HUSBAND ABILITY TO PAY THE AWARD OF CHILD SUPPORT WHICH EXCEEDS HIS TOTAL MONTHLY GROSS INCOME WHILE AT THE SAME TIME DISREGARDING WIFE'S SUBSTANTIAL INCOME VIOLATES THE PRINCIPLES OF SECTION 61.30 FLORIDA STATUTES AND CONSTITUTES JUDICIAL ABUSE AND REVERSIBLE ERROR.

The General Master, as confirmed by the Circuit Court, reached the ridiculous conclusion that since the burden of proof had not been met by Petitioner, he must pay almost 150% of his gross income per month in child support plus an additional two-thirds of his yearly income for attorney's fees. At the same time, Wife's income, which would now reach almost \$7,000.00 per month, was disregarded There is no "harmless error". This has deprived Petitioner of his right of due process.

<u>Point V</u>

BY AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE CIRCUIT COURT EXCEEDED THE PERMITTED AREA OF ACTIVITY PURSUANT TO THE RESTRICTIONS CONTAINED IN THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S LIMITED ORDER LIFTING STAY.

The Bankruptcy Court had jurisdiction over Husband's assets. The limited order of the bankruptcy court allowed these proceedings <u>only</u> to determine the amount of the Respondent/Wife's claim. It did not relinquish jurisdiction as to any other aspect and, especially, the determination of attorney's fees. Wife did not ask the

Bankruptcy Court for fees. The Petition to Award Attorney's Fees was filed <u>after</u> that order was entered and then not in the Bankruptcy Court but only in the Circuit Court. The General Master and the Trial Court were without jurisdiction to hear or determine this matter.

Point VI

THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED ATTORNEY'S FEES FOR DEFENSE OF THE MODIFICATION ACTION WHEN SUCH AWARD AS PROHIBITED BY SPECIFIC PROVISION IN THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

The Settlement Agreement prohibited the award of attorney's fees except for enforcement actions (R 6 Paragraph 5). The record shows that all issues of the petition for enforcement were admitted by Petitioner. All of the Appellee's attorney's time was spent in defending the modification action; which fees were, by contract, not recoverable.

Point VII

THE ATTORNEY'S FEES AWARD WERE EXCESSIVE AS TO WORK PERFORMED SOLELY AS TO THE ENFORCEMENT OF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

All of the issues involved in the enforcement petition were admitted by Appellant. The time claimed by the attorney was in fact, rendered for the defense of the modification petition.

POINT VIII

THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES TO WIFE WAS IMPROPER IN LIGHT OF THE WIFE'S ABILITY TO PAY AND HUSBAND'S INABILITY TO PAY.

All testimony proved that Husband had no ability to pay for even his own attorney while Wife had substantial income and assets and had the ability to pay her own fees. The result of the Court's order is that Husband cannot pay all of the child support ordered much less attorney's fees.

ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u>

THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE COURTS ERRED IN APPLYING THE RULE OF LAW THAT THERE IS A MUCH HEAVIER BURDEN UPON A PETITIONER TO MODIFY A WRITTEN AGREEMENT FOR CHILD SUPPORT ENTERED INTO BY THE PARTIES OVER THAT OF AN ORDER ENTERED BY THE TRIAL COURT IN A DISSOLUTION PROCEEDING.

The rationale of the "heavier burden" doctrine as applied to property and alimony agreements; and, thereafter, spread to include child support seems to be:

"The parties themselves made up the agreement. They knew what they were doing. They had the opportunity to negotiate at arms length so the Court should not substitute its judgment unless something new is shown beyond a doubt."

Hog wash! Spouses at the time of a martial break-up are subject to the most extreme pressures and emotional traumas of their entire lives. To say that spouses cooly, calmly and objectively agree as to each issue as a Trial Court would do, is the ultimate unreality.

Why should a contract made under the heaviest of pressures be given greater sanctity than the preponderance of evidence rule applied in the rest of Civil Law, especially where children are involved?

Bernstein v Bernstein, supra, has not one but two masterful discussions as to the origin of this rule and the public policy which rejects it. This case was decided En Banc; 9 Appellate judges approved its rationale. These Judges specifically receded from the old law of heavier burden. These Judges certified direct conflict. The message is loud and clear -- they want the law changed.

The Legislature has never specified such a heavier burden rule. In fact, Bill 91-246 just enacted shows clearly the Legislature's intent that all assets and liabilities be clearly identified (61.075<u>F.S.</u>); that all sources of income, and all resources <u>and liabilities</u> be considered (61.08 F.S.) and set standard guidelines for <u>equality</u> of child support be set by <u>an allocation between the parties based upon</u> <u>net income [61.30 (6) F.S.]</u>.

The Executive branch of our government has also spoken. As quoted in <u>Bernstein v Bernstein</u>, supra, (P 1275-6), the Florida Governor's Commission On Child Support endorsed standard guidelines based upon the criteria of "basic subsistence for all persons involved", "allocation of income to meet these needs" and "remaining income equitably distributed among children and parents".

Based upon these Guidelines, Husband's <u>net income</u> would have to be almost \$12,000 per month to justify the level of payment ordered.

If <u>all</u> of Husband's actual present income were considered net income and if Wife's income were <u>excluded entirely</u>, his burden only would be only approximately \$750.00 per month or 78% of what he now pays voluntarily.

The record shows the grossest form of inequality. The Appellate Courts, the Legislature and the Executive have spoken for equality. The Heavier Burden rule stands in its way. Heed <u>Bernstein</u> <u>v Bernstein</u>, supra, and abolish it.

POINT II

EVEN USING THE HEAVIER BURDEN RULE THE FINDINGS OF THE GENERAL MASTER AND ADOPTED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT ARE CONTRARY TO THE MANIFEST WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

The proof necessary for Petitioner to be entitled to relief is, per <u>Bernstein v Bernstein</u>, supra, and, consistently in all cases, is to prove (P 1273)

"... a <u>substantial</u> change in circumstance, which change is <u>significant</u>, <u>material</u>, <u>involuntary</u> and <u>permanent</u> in nature." (emphasis supplied)

Let us see where the parties were.

At the time of the signing of the Agreement in January, 1982.

	Husband	Wife
EDUCATION	College and Graduate School	College - some graduate school (T 118)
SCHOLASTIC HONORS	None	Phi Beta Kappa, Summa Cum Laude, Best Athlete 1960 (T. 118)
BUSINESS LEVEL	President-Several companies	President-Several companies
PROFESSIONAL STATUS	Member several associations	State President 1 association
ASSETS	Very substantial land holdings	Substantial land, home and nursery holdings
LIABILITIES	\$4,500,000 in good standing	None (T 4)
STANDARD OF LIVING	Very Good	Very Good

FUTURE

INCOME SOURCES 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7.	Law Practice Apartment Complex Melbourne (T 35) Apartment Complex Cocoa (T 35) Tree Nursery (T 35) Air Layer Nursery Lime grove Land Development Company	1. Nursery
8. EXTRAORDINARY	Lot Sales Company (T 35)	
CHILDREN EXPENSES	None	Private School

Husband made payments of \$600 per week from January, 1982 until August 22, 1988 (T 32) (T 34), some \$205,000.

Gcccd

Good

Changes: Substantial, Significant, Material, Involuntary, Permanent.

By August 1, 1987, a condominium project ate up all Husband's cash reserves (T 36).

By August, 1987, Husband was halted by blanket mortgages from making sales of his lands in Dade County (T 37) and lots in Osceola County (T 37).

By August, 1987, over \$125,000 in mechanic liens had been filed in the Osceola County condominium project.

By August, 1987, the condominium construction lender, who also held a blanket land loan, refused to make draws (T 37) or to release lots for house construction.

In August, 1988, two foreclosure suits were filed against Husband by the Farm Credit Bank (T 37).

Since 1984, the law practice had been discontinued (T 40).

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