047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 78,013
3d DCA CASE NO.: 90-02157 L.T. CASE NO.: 90-01257
(On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Third District, State of Florida)
֡

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, COLLEEN H. BOGGS, f/k/a COLLEEN H. TIETIG

FILED
SID J. WHITE

JAN 8 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

Respectfully Submitted,

WILLIAM M. TUTTLE, II STEPHEN J. KOLSKI, JR. CATLIN, SAXON, TUTTLE, & EVANS, P.A. Attorneys for Appellee 169 East Flagler Street Suite 1700 Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 371-9575

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I

WHETHER THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN APPLYING THE RULE OF LAW THAT THERE IS A MUCH HEAVIER BURDEN ON PETITIONER TO MODIFY A WRITTEN AGREEMENT ENTERED INTO BY THE PARTIES OVER THAT OF AN ORDER ENTERED BY THE COURT IN A DISSOLUTION PROCEEDING.

General Master Gersten applied the proper burden to a movant who is attempting to modify downward an agreement to pay child support obligations which was mutually and voluntarily entered into by the parties. General Master Gersten--not even addressing the "burden" issue--found TIETIG failed to show an adverse substantial change of circumstances. Circuit Court Judge Bloom, while sitting as the appellate court, held that based on his review of the entire record and upon the totality of the circumstances, TIETIG failed, as a matter of law, to prove a substantial change of circumstances including financial circumstances which would entitle him to the relief sought. Judge Bloom specifically held this is true irrespective of the level of burden utilized by the General Master. Further, Judge Bloom held even if General Master Gersten utilized a "heavier" burden where such burden would not apply, then it would have been harmless error, under these circumstances.

Point II

WHETHER THE FINDINGS OF THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE CIRCUIT COURT ARE CONTRARY TO THE MANIFEST WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

The findings of the General Master carry the weight of a jury verdict. Judge Bloom's Amended Order on Report of General Master (R.264-266), which overruled Husband's Exceptions, confirmed as a matter of law that, based upon a totality of the circumstances, the factual findings of the General Master are supported by "substantial competent evidence" (R. 264-266).

Point III

WHETHER THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE CIRCUIT COURT BASED THEIR DECISION ON TOTAL ASSETS SHOWN, REGARDLESS OF ABILITY TO LIQUIDATE AND USE, RATHER THAN AS TO AVAILABLE CASH IN DETERMINING APPELLANT'S ABILITY TO PAY.

The record below is replete with evidence indicating Husband's substantial net worth, liquidity, Husband's ability to pay, and Wife's need for \$600.00 per week child support. The fact that TIETIG took steps to divest himself of substantial assets thereby limiting his ability to restructive debt-- in anticipation of a possible judgment in a suit pending against him-- does not excuse his paying child support.

Point IV

WHETHER AN ORDER REQUIRING HUSBAND TO PAY THE AWARD OF CHILD SUPPORT WHICH EXCEEDS HIS TOTAL MONTHLY GROSS INCOME WHILE AT THE SAME TIME DISREGARDING WIFE'S SUBSTANTIAL INCOME VIOLATES THE PRINCIPLES OF SECTION 61.30 FLORIDA STATUTES AND CONSTITUTES JUDICIAL ABUSE AND REVERSIBLE ERROR.

The record below is replete with evidence indicating Husband's substantial net worth, liquidity, Husband's ability to pay, and Wife's need for \$600.00 per week child support. TIETIG's income was and is only a factor of how much his companies--owned and controlled by TIETIG--desired to pay him at any point and time.

Point V

WHETHER THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE CIRCUIT COURT EXCEEDED THE PERMITTED AREA OF ACTIVITY PURSUANT TO THE RESTRICTIONS CONTAINED IN THE BANKRUPTCY COURT'S LIMITED ORDER LIFTING STAY BY AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES.

The Amended Order of the Bankruptcy Court granting stay relief to Wife gave her authority to proceed with the trial below to determine her entitlement to, and extent of child support arrearages of Husband, including unpaid extraordinary medical expenses. In making this determination at the trial, General Master Gersten awarded Wife her costs and reasonable attorney's fees expense (aggregate of \$10,681.00) as "an integral part of BOGGS' claim for child support arrearages and medical expenses", and, the General Master found "TIETIG has a far superior ability to pay such expenses compared to

BOGGS' lesser ability to pay same" (R. 243-345). Judge Bloom affirmed, citing competent evidence in the record, and confirmed the award was "an integral part of BOGGS' claim for child support arrearages and medical expenses", and held under the totality of the circumstances "that TIETIG has a far superior ability to pay such expenses compared to BOGGS' lesser ability to pay same . . ." (R. 264-266). Award of fees and costs in enforcement proceedings is clearly within the Court's discretion. F.S. 61.16 (1989).

Point VI

WHETHER THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED ATTORNEY'S FEES FOR DEFENSE OF THE MODIFICATION ACTION WHEN SUCH AWARD WAS PROHIBITED BY THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

All of BOGGS' legal efforts, which cost her thousands of dollars in Court costs and reasonable attorney's fees expense, were incurred by wife in the prosecution of her motion to enforce child support payments, which was granted below. Additional fees and costs of Wife, related solely to defending Husband's motion to modify, were not at issue below, were not presented below, and were not awarded below. The fact that TIETIG's Motion to Modify was heard at the same time is inconsequential. The issues presented under both Wife's motion and Husband's motion were identical anyway; Husband's defenses to Wife's motion to enforce child support arrearages were Husband's alleged substantial change of circumstances, including financial circumstances—which the Court below refused to find. Award of fees and costs in enforcement proceedings is clearly within the Court's discretion. F.S. 61.16 (1989).

Point VII

WHETHER THE ATTORNEY'S FEES AWARDED WERE EXCESSIVE IN LIGHT OF THE WORK PERFORMED SOLELY AS TO THE ENFORCEMENT OF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

As indicated in the record below, substantial discovery was required by Wife in order to prosecute her motion to enforce child support arrearages, despite Husband's assertions to the contrary. The trial transcript and record below are replete with

evidence of Husband's non-compliance with the Rules of Civil Procedure (T. 52-53, 56-57, 106-108), and non-compliance with discovery requests of Wife and discovery orders of the court (T. 5-15, 17-21). The trial court below (General Master Carol Gersten) displayed extreme patience with TIETIG's non-compliance and gave TIETIG every opportunity he was entitled to (T. 14-21). If TIETIG had continued to pay full child support rather than unilaterally substantially reducing child support--without court permission--during the pendency of Husband's motion to modify child support obligations, Wife would not have been required to file a motion to enforce and incur related fees and costs. Additional fees and costs of Wife, related solely to defending Husband's motion to modify were not at issue below, were not presented below, and were not awarded below.

Point VIII

WHETHER THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES TO WIFE WAS IMPROPER IN LIGHT OF WIFE'S ABILITY TO PAY AND HUSBAND'S INABILITY TO PAY.

The record is replete with evidence demonstrating the superior financial position of TIETIG. Moreover, the award was proper because it avoided diminution of Wife's child support arrearage award, which preserves the best interest of the children.

ARGUMENT

Point I

WHETHER THE GENERAL MASTER AND THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN APPLYING THE RULE OF LAW THAT THERE IS A MUCH HEAVIER BURDEN ON PETITIONER TO MODIFY A WRITTEN AGREEMENT ENTERED INTO BY THE PARTIES OVER THAT OF AN ORDER ENTERED BY THE COURT IN A DISSOLUTION PROCEEDING.

The trial Court below, General Master Gersten, found as a matter of fact, after considering the totality of the circumstances, that "there has not been a adverse substantial change of circumstances in the financial condition of TIETIG since entry of the final judgment of dissolution of marriage . . .". (R.243). The General Master further found that "TIETIG has not met his burden to show a substantial change of financial circumstances . . .". (R.243). These findings of fact are based upon competent evidence at trial as to TIETIG's financial condition, Wife's financial condition, and the uncontroverted testimony regarding the increase in the three minor childrens' necessary expenses.

First, TIETIG argues that General Master Gersten utilized an improper "heavier burden" in determining whether or not BOGGS' enforcement proceedings should prevail in light of TIETIG's motion for a downward modification of child support. Although General Master Gersten said at the time of trial that there was a heavier burden imposed upon one who attempts to modify a judgment which incorporates the parties' agreement than the burden applicable to attempting to modify a judgment decided by a Court after a trial, in the Report and Recommendations of the General Master, entered over three months after the trial, the General Master set forth the proper standard, and determined TIETIG failed to meet that standard. Specifically, the Report and Recommendation stated, as a matter of a factual finding, that there had not been an adverse substantial change of circumstances in the financial condition of TIETIG since entry of the final judgment. Irrespective of the "burden", whether it be "regular" or "heavy", if TIETIG failed to meet the requirement that there be a substantial change of circumstances, TIETIG cannot prevail on his attempts for a downward modification of his child support obligations.

Over three months passed between the time of the trial and when the Report and Recommendations of the General Master was entered. It is axiomatic that where the verbal statement of a Court at the time of the hearing is not incorporated into the written order or judgment of the Court, it is not to be considered. *Dalton v. Dalton*, 412 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); *Barry v. Robinson*, 65 So.2d 739 (Fla. 1953); *Anders v. Anders*, 376 So.2d 439 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979).

Irrespective of whether the General Master utilized a "heavier burden", the Third District Court of Appeal properly pointed out that, irrespective of the burden utilized, TIETIG failed to prove his case:

Contrary to the former husband's argument, the findings of the General Master were based on substantial competent evidence. The former husband failed to show a substantial change in his financial circumstances to warrant a downward modification of his child support obligations; and the trial court properly enforced the child support obligations of the Final Judgment of Marriage of Dissolution. (Citations omitted).

Tietig v. Bogg, 578 So.2d 838 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (on appeal).

Thus, since the factual finding of the General Master was that "there has not been a adverse substantial change of circumstances in the financial condition of TIETIG since entry of the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage . . ." (R. 243), and since Circuit Court Judge Philip I. Bloom and the Third District Court of Appeal each determined that these findings of fact are supported by competent evidence at trial (R. 264-266, and opinion of Third District Court of Appeal), application of a "heavier burden", if erroneous, would have been harmless error. In Re: Yohn's Estate, 238 So.2d 290 (Fla. 1970); Green v. First American Bank and Trust, 511 So.2d 569 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); Poller v. First Virginia Mortgage and Real Estate Investment Trust, 471 So.2d 104 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); Wassil v. Gilmour, 465 So.2d 566 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); and Florida Statute, § 59.041) 1989).

In dealing with child support, as opposed to alimony, the Court must pay particular attention to the best interests of the minor children. The Courts of this state have a duty to insure that the best interests of the children are preserved in either judicial determinations of child support after trial, or incorporating the litigants' agreement into a judgment.

In the situation, as here, where an agreement between the parties which includes a child support provision is incorporated into a judicial decree, it is incumbent upon the Court to scrutinize the agreement to insure that the children's welfare is preserved. Implicit in the judgment, therefore, is the fact that the Court has done so. It follows that, when an agreement regarding child support is incorporated into a judgment, a presumption arises that the child support provisions are adequate and in the best interests of the children. Where one party later challenges the award, for either an upward or downward modification, he/she bears a burden of proof to show a substantial change in circumstances, including financial circumstances, of one or both of the parties which change must be significant, material, involuntary and permanent in nature. Leone v. Weed,

474 So.2d 401, 404 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); Burdack v. Burdack, 371 So.2d 528 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). See also, Brown v. Brown, 315 So.2d 15 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975); In Re: Marriage of Johnson, 352 So.2d 140 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); Meltzner v. Meltzner, 356 So.2d 1263 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); and Scott v. Scott, 285 So.2d 423 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973).

In the instant case, TIETIG failed to meet this burden. TIETIG admitted that he gave away greater than \$8.5 million in realty - - within six months of unilaterally reducing his Court-ordered child support payments to his wife from \$600.00 to \$225.00 per week. Moreover, there is every indication in the record that TIETIG can regain any loss of financial position which he brought upon himself, from his remaining assets.

TIETIG attempts to utilize the decision of Bernstein v. Bernstein, 498 So.2d 1270 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) (reh. den. Jan. 16, 1987) to support his argument that he was not fairly treated by the trial court below in application of the burden he was required to meet in order to justify his request for a downward modification of child support. A careful reading of Bernstein reveals that the actual holding of Bernstein is that where parties have contractually agreed to specific child support, and the contract limits the amount of child support to less than that which would be in the children's best interest, the rights of the children must prevail. Specifically, in Bernstein, the child's mother petitioned for an upward modification of child support and the father resisted, attempting to enforce the contract. In the instant case, it is the father (TIETIG) who is attempting a downward modification of his child support obligations which he earlier agreed to pay. It is obvious that the best interest of the children must be considered paramount in the first instance, especially where the children's expenses have increased and the Wife's ability to bear this increase alone is not proved. In the second instance, the court must also carefully scrutinize the father's request for downward modification - - again, to protect the paramount interest of the children. Thus, when the non-custodial parent requests a downward modification, there should be imposed a "heavier burden", but the same standard should not be applicable to the custodial parent's attempt to be awarded an increase of child support earlier agreed to. Thus, in the situation presented in Bernstein, the Court properly did not impose a "heavier burden" upon the child's custodial parent, who is in effect the child's representative litigant, in seeking an increase in child support commensurate with the child's needs. In Bernstein, the Court stated:

"The best interest of the children are paramount in proceedings dealing with custody and child support. The statements in the cases are legion that these paramount interests will be protected by the state and by the Courts, ex mero motu, should they be overlooked or adversely affected by actions of the parties . . . ".

Bernstein, 498 So.2d at 1272.

An examination of the holding in another decision, *Essex v. Ayres*, 503 So.2d 1365 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), is instructed. In *Essex*, parents entered into a contract providing for child support payments to the custodial parent. However, the agreement was not reviewed by a Court until the custodial parent (mother) commenced an action to increase the amount of child support called for by the agreement. In *Essex*, the Third District Court of Appeal agreed with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's holding in *Bernstein*, *supra*, and stated:

"We agree entirely with the Fourth District that parties who have agreed on the amount of child support should not be saddled with a heavier burden to modify the amount than parties who have had the amount determined by a Court. But, unlike the Fourth District, we believe that merely equalizing the burden of parties seeking modification does not adequately solve the problem of remedying an agreement to support which is not, *ab initio*, in the best interest of the child or children. We conclude, therefore, that a party seeking a change in the amount of child support provided in an agreement which has not previously been reviewed and approved by a Court should not be required to prove a substantial change in circumstances -- that is, a change from the time and the amount of child support was agreed upon to the time modification is sought -- and need prove only (in addition to ability to pay) that the amount agreed upon between the parties is not in the best interest of the child." (Emphasis supplied).

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